

Annual Review of Developmental Psychology Children's Acquisition and Application of Norms

Marco F.H. Schmidt¹ and Hannes Rakoczy²

¹Department of Psychology, University of Konstanz, Konstanz, Germany; email: marco.schmidt@uni-konstanz.de
²Institute of Psychology, University of Göttingen, Göttingen, Germany

Annu. Rev. Dev. Psychol. 2023. 5:12.1-12.23

The Annual Review of Developmental Psychology is online at devpsych.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-devpsych-120621-034731

Copyright © 2023 by the author(s). All rights reserved

Keywords

norms, norm psychology, social-cognitive development, young children, normativity, morality

Abstract

All human societies are permeated by collectively shared entities that govern daily social interactions and promote coordination and cooperation: norms. While the study of norm development is not new to developmental psychology, it has only recently been the target of an interdisciplinary wave of research using new methodologies and (often) complementary theoretical accounts to describe and explain the origins and potentially species-unique aspects of human norm psychology. Here we review recent developmental research showing that young children swiftly acquire and infer norms in a variety of social contexts. Moreover, children actively enforce these norms, even as unaffected bystanders, when third parties do things the wrong way. This research suggests that the foundations of human norm psychology can be found in early childhood. Deeper insights into the ontogenetic roots of norm psychology may contribute to understanding the evolutionary emergence of human cooperation and its maintenance in the contemporary world.

Contents

INTRODUCTION 12.2	2
What Is Normativity? 12.3	3
How to Study Norm Psychology? 12.4	ł
HOW DOES NORM PSYCHOLOGY DEVELOP? 12.5	5
Precursor Abilities and Behaviors 12.6	5
Excursus: Precursor Abilities and Behaviors in Nonhuman Primates? 12.7	7
Conventional Norms)
Norms of Instrumental Rationality12.10)
Norms of Language Use 12.11	l
Moral Norms	l
Intentionality, Theory of Mind, and Normativity12.12	2
Epistemic Normativity	2
Coconstructing Norms	3
THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVES ON CHILDREN'S DEVELOPING	
NORM PSYCHOLOGY 12.13	3
OUTLOOK	5

INTRODUCTION

Norms are powerful and ubiquitous. Yet, there is perhaps hardly a phenomenon in our daily lives that is so easily overlooked, because these things called norms are so naturally ingrained in, and constitutive of, virtually all aspects of human sociocultural life. Try to imagine a random episode, be it in solitude or with others such as children, relatives, friends, colleagues, or strangers. Now assess whether this incident could be considered completely devoid of norms. It goes without saying that many social interactions (including the mere presence of others) could hardly be without norms (those regarding, e.g., respecting personal space, manners, collaborative activities, religious rituals, making promises, fairness, rights, institutional roles). But even in solitude, we are only superficially distanced from the normative realm, as it were. For instance, when we read a book, do some gardening, try to get home, or simply think about a situation in the past, various kinds of norms still play a role. The structure of books, for example, follows certain rules and, of course, reading (or even thinking in words) is made possible by following language conventions. When we engage in gardening, we do not simply act idiosyncratically but follow cultural goals and conventions and try to do things the right way so that plants can flourish. Even when trying to get home we search for efficient or beautiful routes and, thus, follow norms of instrumental rationality or aesthetics. Finally, when remembering an event, we typically try to remember it correctly and truthfully (and thereby follow epistemic norms).

Thus, in our everyday life, we can hardly do without normative notions, such as right or wrong, good or bad, appropriate or inappropriate, valid or invalid, correct or incorrect, justified or unjustified, sensible or nonsensical, proper or improper, and so on. Human life is "fraught with ought," as the philosopher Wilfrid Sellars (1962) put it. From a developmental perspective, children's lives, and their sociocultural upbringing, are situated in a normative environment organized by norms, conventions, obligations, and rights. Far from being passive receivers of norms, however, from early in development children seem to be eager and motivated to proactively acquire norms, apply them in their own actions, enforce them on others, and sometimes challenge them in context-specific ways.

12.2 Schmidt • Rakoczy



When we hear about norms, what may first come to mind are regulations and restrictions on our conduct and freedom, perhaps even mere obedience to authority. But a closer look at norms reveals that they actually often enable freedom (think about rights and entitlements), new forms and possibilities of action (e.g., games, such as chess), and even dynamic phenomena, such as societal change (e.g., people fighting injustice; Killen & Dahl 2021, Turiel & Dahl 2016) or cultural innovation (e.g., novel pieces of action and knowledge need to be meaningful, shareable, reproducible, and generalizable, based on cooperation and on standing on the shoulders of giants; see Boyd & Richerson 2005, Tennie et al. 2009). Norms by themselves are, thus, neither good nor bad, neither conservative nor progressive, but simply an inherent structural component of human sociocultural group living across cultures and historical times. We learn, accept, construct, and challenge norms, and this is an ongoing process that starts in early development. Children in all societies are expected to learn and conform to the norms that are important for becoming an accepted member of society and for taking up roles in their community. More fundamentally, norms are the basis for the stability and maintenance of human cooperation and human group life (Chudek & Henrich 2011, Fehr & Fischbacher 2004), and human cooperativeness is essential for norms to emerge and exist (Schmidt & Rakoczy 2019, Tomasello 2016).

What Is Normativity?

To make sense of normativity, it seems vital to get a grip on the notion of a norm, as the term is used widely in such diverse disciplines as philosophy, sociology, psychology, and anthropology. What norms are, and what is normal, are highly ambiguous matters. In one broad sense, regularities in nature and in human behavior (sometimes called descriptive or statistical norms) and normality more generally pertain to what is statistically usual, that is, how the world is. Think of normal distributions or observations of regular patterns of behavior (e.g., "It is the norm to go to the bakery on Saturday mornings"). However, in another, narrower, sense-the one of interest herenorms do not describe what is usually the case but prescribe or proscribe certain human actions (or beliefs, emotions, etc.) in certain contexts, that is, how the world ought to be. Here, we use the terms norm and normativity in this latter, normative, sense. From a methodological point of view, this ambiguity (regularities versus norms proper) poses deep problems when the question arises of what kind of norm psychology a given creature or population operates with, in particular, before propositional language (as with infants) or in its absence (as with nonhuman animals). Does an individual merely do what is descriptively usual, or do they follow a norm? Do they descriptively expect that others will do what is usual, or do they normatively expect them to do what ought to be done? We return to these issues below.

From a very broad perspective, normativity is ubiquitous (Brandom 1994, Engel 2011, Gibbard 1990, McDowell 1984, Millikan 1990): Norms are in play whenever we deal with phenomena of intentionality and the possibility (and distinction) of success and failure. For instance, psychological states (e.g., mental states such as beliefs, perceptions) may successfully or unsuccessfully represent reality, and linguistic phenomena, such as linguistic expressions and meaning, have conditions of correct application; for some, norms even apply to biological and other functions [which imply criteria for (un)successful execution of the function in question]. Here, we focus on a more specific, sociocultural form of normativity that primarily occurs and originates within social interactions, that is, the norms that guide, regulate, and justify our actions (including speech acts, behavioral expressions, epistemic states and claims about beliefs or knowledge, emotions, etc.) in daily life and in a variety of different contexts. Such norms have four key structural features: they (*a*) set standards of correctness, (*b*) have intrinsic normative force and authority, (*c*) apply with some generality, and (*d*) are valid in context-relative ways.



First of all, norms are at the same time abstract and concrete because they set standards of correctness (Popitz 2006). This is an abstract ideal, which only makes sense if one can compare (in propositional or nonpropositional terms) concrete actions, thoughts, and emotions in the here and now (i.e., concrete manifestations) with these standards or principles (Pettit 1993, Winch 1958).

Second, norms have intrinsic normative force. They give us reasons for action and thus inherently move us motivationally. The normative force that moves us is, of course, very different from physical force: We cannot help but obey the laws of gravity or be pushed around by strong wind, but we are rationally moved by norms guiding our actions. Normative force seems to reside in and between us and cannot be reduced to mere coercion or enforced obedience [Rousseau 1997 (1762), pp. 43–44]. The force and authority of norms (or oughtness) are then closely connected to the possibility to do otherwise, that is, to violate norms (Brandom 1994, Korsgaard 1996, Lavin 2004). An important consequence of the above features is that we usually have normative expectations about what we and others ought to or should do in a particular situation (Chudek & Henrich 2011, Gloor 2014). It is both theoretically and empirically crucial to distinguish this type of normative expectation from merely descriptive (or statistical) expectations about how agents will act. Couched in somewhat technical terms, descriptive expectations are like weather forecasts that try to match reality. They have mind-to-world direction of fit: Like epistemic states, they aim at representing the world as it is or will be (Searle 1983). Normative expectations, in contrast, are peculiar in that they have both mind-to-world direction of fit (i.e., they represent what is the case) and the opposite world-to-mind direction of fit typical of desires, intentions, and other volitional states (Christen & Glock 2012, Schmid 2011, Searle 1983, Smith 1994). Thus, norms are Janusfaced: They represent what is the case while motivating and guiding action at the same time. This action guidance applies in the first person (moving the agent themselves) and in the third person (moving the agent to enforce normative expectations toward other agents). Hence, normative expectations toward third parties may result in formal and informal sanctioning behavior, such as criticizing, protesting, or intervening in other ways when a norm has been violated (Parsons 1951, Schmid 2009).

Third, normativity is not a solitary or private affair, but requires shareability and comes with generality [Korsgaard 1996; Nagel 1970, 1986; Wittgenstein 2001 (1953)]. That is, all things considered, norms provide a reason to act in certain ways for any relevant agent in equivalent circumstances. For instance, the norm of standing in line in grocery stores applies in general ways to any agent, in any store. Norms are thus shared and public in this sense, and one can assess both one's own and others' acts in light of the norm. Hence, norms are valid and generalizable in ways that preferences are not. Note that the scope of norms may, of course, vary dramatically (some norms apply globally, others only very locally). But, within a given scope, the norm holds with generality.

Fourth, and relatedly, norms typically apply in context-relative ways. What counts as appropriate in one context (e.g., using your hand in handball, hitting your sparring partner in a boxing ring) may have very different normative status in another context (e.g., using your hand in soccer, hitting your colleague in the office). Context relativity does not conflict with the above feature of generality, because when a given norm is valid in general (i.e., in all contexts of a certain category and for anyone who joins the practice), this is perfectly compatible with the norm being invalid, irrelevant, or of minor importance in other categories of contexts (and for anyone who is not within the scope of the norm).

How to Study Norm Psychology?

With these key features of normativity at hand, we can now turn to methodological questions of how to measure norm understanding. First of all, we can simply observe children's behavior

12.4 Schmidt • Rakoczy



in norm-governed situations. In his landmark study on children's developing morality, Piaget (1932) observed how children play marble games as a kind of norm laboratory or ontogenetic cradle of morality and studied whether children's behavior in such games conforms to alleged norms (practice of rules). The mere observation of children's own actions, however, remains ambiguous. Basically, if the data are confined to such observations, one cannot distinguish behavior that is merely in accordance with a norm (imagine a toddler moving a pawn one field forward on a checkerboard) from true norm following (acting this way because of the norm in question) [Brandom 1994, Wittgenstein 2001 (1953)].

A second type of method, therefore, involves direct interviews that probe children's understanding of normative matters. Piaget also pioneered such methods and investigated whether children's judgment (consciousness of rules) was indicative of norm understanding in the context of games. Ever since, interview studies have asked children to judge whether actions were right or wrong and good or bad and to provide justifications for their judgments. Over the last decades, numerous interview studies based on Turiel (1983, 2006) and colleagues' social domain theory have found that preschoolers, when asked to judge norm transgressions in hypothetical scenarios, make subtle distinctions (e.g., in terms of the severity or scope of a norm) between different types of norms. With increasing age, children come to justify their judgments in increasingly proficient ways (Killen & Smetana 2014; Nucci 2014; Smetana 2006; Turiel 1983, 2002, 2006; Turiel & Dahl 2016). Like every empirical method, interview techniques also come with drawbacks. For instance, they cannot be used with very young children, infants, or nonhuman animals, although it is of vital importance we assess these populations to better understand the ontogeny and phylogeny of normativity (Fitzpatrick 2020, Rudolf von Rohr et al. 2011, Schmidt & Rakoczy 2019, Westra & Andrews 2022). Moreover, interviews focus on children's knowledge about common norms when asking them whether a given action is okay or not okay. They do not directly assess whether children understand the above-mentioned normative force or the oughtness of norms.

Such an understanding of the force of norms is evidenced most clearly in a third type of measure: We can study when and how a child enforces norms by intervening as a third-party observer (e.g., by sanctioning, correcting, criticizing) against norm transgressions in social interactions (Rakoczy & Schmidt 2013, Schmidt & Tomasello 2012). While such measures are most informative in the case of positive evidence (spontaneous norm enforcement is a very good indicator of norm understanding), absence of evidence (a child does not intervene spontaneously) is inconclusive: Is the child shy, or does the child not care about or understand the norm?

So, fourth and lastly, it is also possible to use more implicit methods (e.g., looking time, preference for one of two agents, pupil dilation, gestural or mimic expressions) to assess potential precursors to norm understanding in infants and nonhuman animals. For example, in their anticipatory or reactive looking patterns, will infants or nonhuman animals reveal that they (at least descriptively) expect an agent to act in accordance with a given norm, or even to normatively enforce a norm toward another agent? As we argue in more detail below, these methods face the fundamental problem that, taken by themselves, they cannot, in principle, distinguish descriptive from normative expectations. While they cannot provide solid evidence for true norm understanding, these methods are still potentially helpful for tapping into precursor capacities.

HOW DOES NORM PSYCHOLOGY DEVELOP?

In the section below, we first take a closer look at current research on precursors to norm understanding in infants, toddlers, and nonhuman animals. We argue that, though important and innovative, this research falls short of providing evidence for genuine norm understanding in these populations. Next, we review recent research on young children's developing understanding



R

of normativity in different domains and contexts using mainly the method of spontaneous third-party norm enforcement. Overall, this line of research suggests that by 2 or 3 years old, children have acquired a robust understanding of norms and their standards of correctness, normative force, generality, and context relativity. Crucially, they not only rapidly learn about different types of norms (e.g., conventional, moral, linguistic, epistemic) but also apply, follow, enforce, and coconstruct them in a variety of contexts.

Precursor Abilities and Behaviors

Before looking at more mature forms of norm understanding and application, it is vital to explore the developmental and evolutionary roots of norm psychology. In the next sections, we give a brief overview of potential precursors to norm understanding in ontogeny and phylogeny. It is important to stress, however, that to date, it is largely unclear which of the observed phenomena are truly indicative of norm understanding or necessary prerequisites for, or even related to, (later) normative cognition (e.g., Campbell & Richie 1983).

Descriptive expectations about conventionality. Around their first birthday, infants start to make generic inferences about culturally relevant conventional affairs, such as artifact use or language use. They (descriptively) expect that different agents use artifacts or language (e.g., object labels) in the same conventional ways, whereas they do not expect such conventional conformity across agents when it comes to personal tastes or preferences (Buresh & Woodward 2007; Elsner & Pauen 2007; Graham et al. 2006; Henderson & Scott 2015; Henderson & Woodward 2012; Träuble & Pauen 2007, 2011; for a review, see Diesendruck & Markson 2011). What makes these findings important for children's developing understanding of normativity is that they show that infants start to make inferences about the generalizability (to other agents or objects) of different kinds of conventional forms, such as object labels and functions. Though important, such generalizations do not necessarily reflect normative generalizations (what everyone ought to do) but may simply indicate generalized descriptive expectations (what everyone will do). Initial systematic and naturalistic observations of young children's expectations that plausibly go beyond the merely descriptive have been reported by Jerome Kagan: Infants from their second year start to express surprise or concern when tools and other artifacts deviate from standards and do not function properly any more, and they even express this with corresponding language (e.g., "broken") (Kagan 1981).

Preferences for prosocial over antisocial actions and agents. While infants' developing understanding of conventionality may be construed as a precursor to understanding conventional normativity, including its arbitrariness, infants' expectations and preferences regarding (pro)social actions and agents might be considered precursors to nonarbitrary moral normativity (e.g., issues of harm) (Turiel 1983). The empirical basis here is as follows: During the first year of life, infants differentiate (in their preferential reaching and looking behaviors) between what adults would regard as positive and negative actions, such as helping and hindering others (for overviews, see Hamlin 2013a, Margoni & Surian 2018, Schlingloff et al. 2020, Van de Vondervoort & Hamlin 2018, Woo et al. 2022). For example, in a series of experiments, Hamlin and colleagues (2007, 2010, 2011) showed infants (from as early as 3 months to about 20 months) animated geometrical shapes or puppet scenarios in which an actor performed positively valenced (e.g., helping another agent reach a goal) or negatively valenced (e.g., hindering another agent from reaching a goal) actions. Infants typically preferred the prosocial actors over the antisocial ones in their reaching preference, even when witnessing incomplete actions, suggesting that they considered the agents' (prosocial versus antisocial) goals (Hamlin 2013b). Further studies found differential treatment

12.6 Schmidt • Rakoczy



of prosocial and antisocial actors in toddlers' (20–24 months) sharing preferences and negative actions (Hamlin et al. 2011, Van de Vondervoort et al. 2018), as well as longitudinal correlations between early social preferences at around 12 months and later behavioral adjustment at around 48 months (Tan et al. 2018), and an ingroup bias in infants' descriptive expectations about helping behavior in intergroup contexts (Jin & Baillargeon 2017; for related findings examining infants' social preferences, see Hamlin et al. 2013, Hamlin & Wynn 2012).

What do these lines of research indicate about children's early norm psychology? First of all, if the findings turn out to be robust (currently an open question in light of mixed replicability results; Salvadori et al. 2015, Scarf et al. 2012, Schlingloff et al. 2020; for a review, see Woo et al. 2022, and for a large replication project, see Lucca et al. 2021), they suggest that infants have a rich social understanding (regarding agents' goals) and social preferences (for agents with benign or aligned goals). These forms of understanding and preferences may be important for young children's developing understanding of normativity, but by themselves they do not yet amount to normative expectations or assessments of right and wrong and, thus, not to normativity or morality proper.

Preferences for distributional fairness. Beyond expectations and preferences regarding prosocial actions, infants also develop rich descriptive expectations about the fair distribution of resources. A number of studies with different tasks and paradigms found that from around 15 months of age, infants descriptively expect a (disinterested) distributor to allocate resources equally between two recipients (Schmidt & Sommerville 2011, Sloane et al. 2012, Sommerville et al. 2013; for findings suggesting descriptive expectations about fairness in the first year of life, see Buyukozer Dawkins et al. 2019, Meristo et al. 2016). Moreover, analogous to reported preferences for prosocial actions, studies have also documented that infants (by 16 months) show preferences for fair over unfair distributors via their looking and reaching behavior (Geraci & Surian 2011; see also Burns & Sommerville 2014, Lucca et al. 2018, Ziv et al. 2021). Additionally, in some studies, infants' own prosocial behavior (e.g., sharing a preferred rather than a nonpreferred toy) was positively related to their third-party fairness expectations (Schmidt & Sommerville 2011, Sommerville et al. 2013), which may suggest that other-regard or altruistic motives foster the early development of fairness understanding as not just based on social regularities but on distribution principles.

Nonetheless, although these findings on infants' descriptive expectations and social preferences in distributional contexts are fascinating, they do not provide evidence for a normative understanding (or normative evaluation) of distributive justice. They can be explained by a rich and social, but nonnormative, reading of the observed social interactions.

Excursus: Precursor Abilities and Behaviors in Nonhuman Primates?

It is beyond the scope of this review to discuss the now abundant (theoretical and empirical) literature on potential precursors to normative or moral understanding in nonhuman primates (Boesch 2012, Bräuer & Hanus 2012, Brosnan & de Waal 2014, Burkart et al. 2018, Lorini 2022, Schmidt & Rakoczy 2019, Tomasello 2016). Here, we discuss a few key findings and observations in chimpanzees and bonobos in relation to the conceptual distinctions introduced above. In general, it is not trivial to consider how we can best avoid both anthropomorphism (e.g., inferring normative competence from observing behavior that looks moral) and anthropocentrism (or adultcentrism, e.g., egocentrically introducing human-centered concepts and standards and inappropriately applying them to non- or prelinguistic creatures). Nonetheless, the central features of normativity (standards of correctness, normative force, generality, context relativity) are abstract and general enough to apply them, in principle, in context- and species-sensitive ways.



Relevant domains of investigation include apes' conflict management and interventions (e.g., so-called policing), social learning, resource distribution, and aggressive behavior directed toward young conspecifics (infants). Regarding conflict management, individual chimpanzees have been observed to police or intervene in fights, apparently as unaffected bystanders (Flack et al. 2005, 2006; Rudolf von Rohr et al. 2012). It is, however, mainly high-ranking individuals that intervene in third-party ways (with little risk of experiencing retaliation), and in general, interventions occur rarely (for similar findings in a food retrieval task requiring collaboration, see Suchak et al. 2016, and for discussion, see Schmidt & Tomasello 2016, Suchak & de Waal 2016). This makes it likely that nonnormative, egocentric motivations and individual preferences, such as securing one's dominant position, enhancing group harmony (which is in dominant individuals' own interest), or being in the presence of resources and desiring to obtain them, drive this behavior (Rudolf von Rohr et al. 2012, Schmidt & Tomasello 2016). Importantly, in a well-controlled experiment, researchers found that when observing a conspecific stealing food from another ape, chimpanzees do not engage in third-party punishment but only in second-party punishment (i.e., revenge when the self is affected by stealing) (Riedl et al. 2012; for related observations and findings, see Boesch 1994, Jensen et al. 2007). Overall, this suggests that dominant chimpanzees' interventions are not driven by normative attitudes but rather by individualistic motives.

Regarding social learning, of special interest are group-specific behavioral traditions and forms of culture, which cannot be easily explained by ecological or genetic variation (Luncz et al. 2012; Whiten 2011, 2019, 2021; Whiten et al. 2007). For instance, neighboring chimpanzee groups have been observed to use different nutcracking strategies (Luncz et al. 2012), and one female chimpanzee who swapped groups changed her nutcracking method in favor of the predominant method of her new group (Luncz & Boesch 2014). It is not clear whether such aligned behaviors amount to social or even normative learning (Jensen et al. 2014) or whether they are based on individual motives and learning mechanisms including efficiency or payoff gains (Gruber et al. 2022. Langergraber et al. 2011, Schmidt & Rakoczy 2019, Tennie et al. 2009, Van Leeuwen et al. 2013). Moreover, stable between-group differences in chimpanzees may be explained by a preference to copy dominant chimps (Kendal et al. 2015), and apparent customs in chimpanzees (e.g., specific ways of grooming one another, such as hand-clasp grooming) may not be the result of conformity to the group ways of doing things (see also Van Leeuwen et al. 2013) but of matrilineal inheritance (learning from one's mother) (Wrangham et al. 2016). Together, these findings suggest that social learning and culture in our closest living relatives are rich, but at the same time, they seem confined to individual and nonnormative attitudes and mechanisms of transmission.

Regarding resource distribution, the most prominent situation used in prior research involves a fairness context in which participants may be averse to inequality. Using clever designs and methods, researchers presented two individuals with a token-exchange task in which they could exhibit comparable efforts (i.e., handing over tokens to an experimenter) in order to receive a reward. However, rewards in the key condition were unequal (e.g., a high-value grape versus a low-value carrot), so the question was whether recipients would refuse to take a reward if the conspecific received a better one. Initial studies indicated that chimpanzees and monkeys may be inequality averse (refusing low-value rewards) and thus sensitive to fairness issues (Brosnan & de Waal 2003; Brosnan et al. 2005, 2010). Follow-up studies, however, have teased apart mechanisms of social comparison and the mere expectancy to receive a better reward regardless of social fairness concerns. These studies found that apes show no signs of inequality aversion (Bräuer et al. 2009, Ulber et al. 2017) but rather human-directed social disappointment (i.e., the experimenter could have offered better food) (Engelmann et al. 2017). Overall, there is thus no stringent evidence for fairness concerns in apes, and social disappointment seems to be a rich, but nonnormative, explanation for primates' behavior in token-exchange tasks.

12.8 Schmidt • Rakoczy



The last interesting case is apes' reaction to aggressive acts directed at conspecifics (both very young and adult individuals). Chimpanzees generally show tolerance toward infants in their group (Rudolf von Rohr et al. 2011). But when harmful behaviors are directed at infants (up to infanticide), strong emotional reactions by not only the infant's mother but also other members of the group have been reported (Goodall 1977, Rudolf von Rohr et al. 2011, Townsend et al. 2007). Besides these observations, Rudolf von Rohr and colleagues (2015) conducted a looking-time study and showed chimpanzees recordings from a different chimpanzee group including infanticide scenes and other social (e.g., hunting, aggressive behaviors) and nonsocial (e.g., nutcracking) situations. They found that chimpanzees looked longer, but showed no increased arousal, at the infanticide compared with the other scenes. While the researchers could rule out a few basic alternative explanations (e.g., novelty, presence of infants in movies), the findings are nonetheless ambiguous. Given the nature of the measures, they might simply reflect increased interest in infanticide scenes. As the different video clips differed along many dimensions and given that it is not clear which prior experiences (e.g., chasing one another) might play a role, statistical expectations and a novelty preference might still have led to the reported results.

In related observational work with bonobos, researchers found that victims' screams were structurally distinct and showed individual acoustic profiles in response to expected (e.g., food-related) and unexpected, unprovoked acts of aggression by conspecifics (Clay et al. 2016). The presence of an audience or conflict severity, however, did not influence individual vocal behavior. Again, these results may indicate some kind of normative response, but more parsimoniously, they may simply reflect violations of descriptive expectations (the unexpected events being relatively, not necessarily absolutely, rare and thus surprising or arousing).

Taken together, these findings demonstrate a rich, descriptive, and statistical understanding of social situations, perhaps including the desire to receive help by allies or friends (Engelmann & Herrmann 2016). However, they do no not provide compelling evidence for true understanding of norms with force and generality that go beyond mere self-centered expectations.

Conventional Norms

Going beyond the precursory abilities documented in human infants and nonhuman animals, there is substantial evidence that by around 2 to 3 years of age, children operate with solid forms of basic norm psychology. That is, they understand something about the central features of the norms that govern social activities and social life (standards of correctness, generality, normative force, context relativity). One line of research investigated, for instance, how children learn novel game-like activities that share basic features with conventional norms, such as arbitrariness (e.g., one could play the game another way) and context relativity.

In these studies, children saw an experimenter demonstrate a new game-like action (e.g., "daxing"), could then perform the action themselves, and later saw a third party (usually a hand puppet) perform the action in the same or in an alternative but still goal-directed and instrumentally successful way (e.g., Rakoczy et al. 2008). Children spontaneously and reliably intervened as unaffected third parties and protested against what they considered a violation using explicit normative language (e.g., "This is wrong!"). This indicates a grasp of the standards that norms embody, the force they bring with them, and the generality with which the force applies to oneself and third parties alike. More recent research indicates that this mature understanding of the normativity of game rules in young children may be preceded by an early grasp of the normative force of interpersonal agreements (on how we use an artifact or play a simple game) during the second year of life, without full appreciation of the generality of norms (Schmidt et al. 2019).

This line of research has also documented that by age 3, young children appreciate the context relativity of conventional norms. For instance, they protest against a given act only in the relevant



R

game context in which that act constitutes a mistake (e.g., when the agent plays the game but not when the agent announced she would do something else) (Rakoczy et al. 2009, Wyman et al. 2009).

What this line of research has shown in different domains is that children readily and swiftly pick up new norms, follow them, and enforce them. Interestingly, young children may sometimes even pick up norms somewhat too swiftly. There is evidence to suggest that young children operate with promiscuous normativity (analogous to children's promiscuous teleology, their tendency to overattribute goals and purpose to natural objects; Kelemen 1999a,b): Children assume the existence of norms in overly liberal ways. For instance, when 3-year-olds incidentally observe an unknown person spontaneously fetching junk objects out of a trash bag and performing an idiosyncratic, arbitrary, and intentional action without any clear purpose (e.g., taking a damaged snail shell and pushing it a bit forward with a piece of wood), they attribute normativity to this act. Young children not only imitate it but protest when a third party later acts on the junk objects in a different way. Only when the adult marked their action as accidental did children not impute normativity (Schmidt et al. 2016a; see also Schmidt et al. 2011). It almost seems as if the default assumption for children was that social actions are norm-governed unless noted otherwise. Based on minimal cues, they quickly jump to normative conclusions and overgeneralize intentional actions. This promiscuous normativizing tendency might be an important mechanism for rapid acquisition of the immense variety and multitude of culturally relevant knowledge and practices.

In fact, promiscuous normativity may be key to explaining otherwise puzzling phenomena, such as children's descriptive-to-prescriptive overinduction regarding group regularities (e.g., because most "Hibbles" wear red clothing, children infer that a new Hibble should wear red clothing; Roberts 2021, Roberts et al. 2017), and their tendency to overimitate (copying not only causally relevant but also more stylistic causally irrelevant acts; Keupp et al. 2018, Legare & Nielsen 2015). Recent evidence suggests that children do not overimitate because they think the action elements are causally necessary but rather because they think they are normatively necessary as part of a bigger conventional activity (for reviews, see Keupp et al. 2018, Legare & Nielsen 2015). Children overimitate in context-sensitive ways (leaving out the unnecessary part, if the goal is efficiency rather than conventionality), and they enforce this normative structure toward third parties (they protest if a third party achieves the goal without performing all the action elements).

Taken together, this body of empirical findings on children's acquisition and application of conventional norms suggests that they do not passively wait to be taught the rules of their cultural group. Rather, from early on, children proactively look for norms and cues that might indicate normativity, are highly motivated to enforce them, and apply norms in selective and rational ways.

Norms of Instrumental Rationality

One of the most basic forms of normativity pertains to norms of instrumental rationality: If an agent desires a given end, they should (all else being equal) use the most adequate means to attain this end. This is the basic structure of the so-called hypothetical imperative [Kant 1998 (1785)], arguably one of the most basic requirements of practical rationality and one that seems to be widely shared across cultures (Shweder 1986). In many of the reported protest studies, children were confronted with instrumental mistakes committed by an agent (hand puppet) in warm-up games. The agent, for example, failed to use a certain tool (e.g., a functioning pen) to achieve an instrumental goal (e.g., drawing or writing). Children usually intervened verbally (e.g., using normative language, such as "You can't do it like this") and/or behaviorally (e.g., by correcting the puppet's mistake) in these situations (Rakoczy et al. 2008). Interestingly, preschoolers draw systematic distinctions between such rationality norms and other kinds of norms, such as conventional or moral rules: They apply rationality norms equally to in-group and out-group individuals, as with moral

12.10 Schmidt • Rakoczy



norms but in contrast to conventional norms, potentially because of the nonarbitrariness of both ineffective (instrumental) and harmful (immoral) acts (see the section titled Moral Norms) (Dahl & Schmidt 2018, Schmidt et al. 2012).

Overall, these findings suggest that young children understand something about the normativity of rationality norms, and future protest studies could systematically vary agents' instrumental goals in different contexts to explore how sophisticated young children's appreciation of instrumental rationality is (see also Dahl & Schmidt 2018).

Norms of Language Use

Language is a normative, rule-governed activity at many levels (Brandom 1994, Searle 1969). When do children develop a basic understanding that speech acts are subject to normative assessment? The earliest forms of normative awareness were reported by Pea (1982), who found that very young children, ages 2–3, spontaneously corrected adults who made incorrect assertions about some state of affairs (e.g., "The dog is on the mat!" when this was not the case). A more mature normative understanding of language use, however, would reveal itself through differentiating between different types of typical human speech acts with different directions of fit (assertions aimed at representing reality correctly have mind-to-world direction of fit, while imperatives aimed at realization have world-to-mind direction of fit) (Searle 1969, 1983). Rakoczy & Tomasello (2009) found that 3-year-olds understood this structural difference: They protested against the commentator if they asserted that an actor was performing a certain action (and this was not the case) but against the actor if they were not doing what the commentator told them to do (for related findings, see Lohse et al. 2014).

Moral Norms

R

Over the last decades, much research has found that young children judge immoral acts (e.g., harming others without reason) as blameworthy and systematically distinct from conventional transgressions (Killen & Smetana 2014, 2015; Turiel 1983). Further, they also actively intervene in social interactions as disinterested parties when norms involving moral issues have been violated, thus providing evidence for their appreciation of the normative force and generality of these norms (Schmidt & Rakoczy 2018, Tomasello 2016). Research suggests that by age 3, children intervene and criticize others who cause harm by destroying or stealing someone's property (Hardecker et al. 2016, Rossano et al. 2011, Schmidt et al. 2012, Vaish et al. 2011), and they even defend others' entitlement in ownership contexts by intervening against someone who (illegitimately) threatens another agent's right to use their property (Schmidt et al. 2013; see also Friedman et al. 2018, Neary et al. 2009, Ross et al. 2015, Rossano et al. 2011).

Do young children also treat moral violations differently than conventional violations in their normative protests and other types of reactions? More recent research using different methods suggests that they do so in context-sensitive ways, as indicated by their spontaneous protest behaviors, emotional reactions, descriptive expectations, and even physiological arousal (Hardecker et al. 2016, Josephs & Rakoczy 2016, Liberman et al. 2018, Schmidt et al. 2012, Yucel et al. 2020). For instance, for conventional norms (simple arbitrary game rules), they criticize in-group members more than out-group individuals for performing alternative actions (Schmidt et al. 2012) and expect in-group members to be more likely to conform to and less likely to violate conventional norms than out-group individuals (Liberman et al. 2018).

Regarding resource distributions, young children have a strong preference for equality in their own distributions (Schmidt et al. 2012, 2016d). But more importantly for the current argument, young children even enforce the norm of equality, employ it when coconstructing a prosocial



sharing norm with others (Friedrich & Schmidt 2022), and protest when others allocate resources unequally (Paulus et al. 2020, Rakoczy et al. 2016). With age, children's understanding of distributive justice matures and goes beyond the principle of equality. Children come to appreciate that inequality may be normatively justified by some reasons (e.g., merit, need) but not by others (idiosyncratic demand) (Schmidt et al. 2016d; see also Blake et al. 2015, Rizzo et al. 2016).

In sum, this work suggests that young children care about moral norms and that they understand them to be distinct from other types of norms. Their (selective) third-party norm enforcement provides evidence for their appreciation of the generality and force of moral norms.

Intentionality, Theory of Mind, and Normativity

The question of whether norm psychology develops in isolation or is integrated with other forms of social cognition from early in development is of vital importance. Several findings suggest a close interrelation and integration of normativity, intentionality, and theory of mind. First, and most intuitively, when normatively evaluating actions, children-just like adults-take into account an agent's intentionality (their background desires or intentions). They do so in their verbal judgments, as shown by numerous interview studies (for reviews, see Killen & Rizzo 2014, Killen & Smetana 2015), as well as in their spontaneous prosocial behaviors and active norm enforcement in a variety of contexts (Josephs & Rakoczy 2016; Schmidt et al. 2016b,c; Vaish et al. 2010). Further, children do so when evaluating different kinds of actions, including speech acts (e.g., claims) with potentially (intended) harmful effects (Fedra & Schmidt 2018). Young children, again like adults (Giffin & Lombrozo 2015), make these intent-based normative judgments in different ways for different types of norms. For example, they considered whether an agent had a choice or was constrained (and thus not guilty) and refrained from protesting in a moral context when the perpetrator was constrained (thereby considering the intentionality of the agent). Yet, children still protested against mistakes at considerable rates in a conventional context (e.g., sorting objects) with an external constraint, suggesting children put more weight on intentions in moral versus conventional contexts (Josephs et al. 2016, Tunçgenç et al. 2015; see also Van Wye et al. 2021).

Beyond the intuitive direction (i.e., intentionality matters for normative assessment), there is also the less intuitive direction, namely, that normative assessment matters to ascriptions of intentionality, a phenomenon called the side-effect effect (Knobe 2003): Participants tend to judge that an agent intentionally brought about merely foreseen side effects more often when the effect had negative normative value compared with positive value. Ample evidence has documented this effect in adults (Knobe 2010). Interestingly, even 4-year-old children show the very same kind of side-effect effect (Leslie et al. 2006, Pellizzoni et al. 2009, Rakoczy et al. 2015).

Together, these lines of research thus suggest that children's norm psychology does not develop in isolation but rather closely in tandem with other social-cognitive capacities and abilities for individual intentionality (for further research, see also Fu et al. 2014, Killen et al. 2011, Li et al. 2017, Smetana et al. 2012, Sodian et al. 2016).

Epistemic Normativity

Epistemic norms broadly pertain to the reasons, obligations, and entitlements we have regarding our epistemic states and claims (e.g., beliefs, knowledge). The study of the development of children's grasp of epistemic norms is a relatively new field. In research on the development of selective trust in testimony, many studies have investigated children's understanding of important epistemic cues (e.g., reliability, accuracy, competence) in social learning situations (Koenig et al. 2004, Koenig & Harris 2005, Mills 2013, Nurmsoo et al. 2010, Robinson & Einav 2014; for reviews, see Harris et al. 2018, Landrum et al. 2015). In contrast, the normative dimension of epistemic matters

12.12 Schmidt • Rakoczy



(beliefs, knowledge) in social interactions, such as challenging and correcting each other's beliefs and epistemic claims, has not been systematically addressed (Tomasello 2020). A recent study by Fedra & Schmidt (2019) assessed whether preschoolers take others' knowledge claims (about the location of an object) for granted or whether they would reject these claims if they have reason to believe that the claims are incorrect (e.g., when the speaker did not have perceptual access to a crucial hiding event). The findings were that older, but not younger, preschoolers reliably rejected incorrect knowledge claims (for related findings on the obligation to verify one's claims, see Butler et al. 2018, 2020). Overall, this relatively new field of study may be of particular importance with respect to the challenges that children (and adults) face in the digital age, such as evaluating information (sources), claims, trustworthiness, and authority.

Coconstructing Norms

Children do not only passively learn from others and apply pre-existing norms. Rather, recent research has also accumulated evidence that children take part in coconstructing norms with others and that they understand that norms are essentially human-made social facts that can be established under certain circumstances (e.g., agreement). Schmidt and colleagues (2016c) investigated what young Western children (aged 3) think about the establishment of a new conventional norm (an arbitrary game rule): For example, when does such a new norm come into existence, and is full group consensus required? They found that if all parties involved (i.e., the child and puppet participants) had agreed upon a game norm, children enforced this novel norm on a participant who violated the rule. If, however, there was dissent during the norm-setting process, children did not interpret subsequent actions to be subject to a game rule and thus refrained from protesting against deviation. Interestingly, agreement between even a majority of 90% would not suffice to create a valid norm. This work thus suggests that young children understand something of the role of agreement in creating norms and that, initially, they do not accept majority rule as a means to construct norms. Additionally, 5-year-old children's spontaneous construction and transmission of coordination norms have been investigated (Göckeritz et al. 2014; see also Nobes 1999). Children collaborated on an apparatus in order to achieve a shared goal of receiving rewards. Children coconstructed rules for coordination (including assigning different roles) to regulate their interactions. When children were paired with ignorant peers, they transmitted the created norms as general facts (i.e., they used generic normative language such as, "One should do it this way!") and did not engage in renegotiating how to coordinate. This suggests that children reified the coconstructed norms as if they had discovered preexisting entities (for related findings, see Köymen et al. 2014, 2015).

THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVES ON CHILDREN'S DEVELOPING NORM PSYCHOLOGY

Ample research documents that from fairly early in development, young children acquire, understand, follow, coconstruct, and even enforce norms. But how does norm psychology develop? In particular, how do normative capacities evolve from basic, nonnormative precursor abilities? What are the underlying developmental motors and acquisition processes? Doing justice to these questions would require an extensive separate treatment far beyond the scope of the present article. Here, we, more modestly, outline the general logical geography in which various (possible and real) attempts to answer such questions of the ontogeny of norm psychology can be located. We focus on one fundamental dimension of variation and dispute between alternative accounts that concern the relation of norm acquisition to the acquisition of other types of representations in other areas.

www.annualreviews.org • Children's Developing Understanding of Norms 12.13



At one end of the spectrum, rich, nativist modularity views would assume that there are innate, specialized, dedicated, domain-specific, and informationally encapsulated acquisition devices for norm psychology (analogous to universal grammar and the language acquisition device postulated in modularity accounts of language learning; Chomsky 2006, Pinker 1994). By their nature, these devices would be functionally isolated from other forms of learning and reasoning. It is not completely clear whether there are any real accounts at this very end of the spectrum that take such an ambitious view on domain specificity regarding norm acquisition. Yet, some accounts come close in some respect or another, for example, those that postulate cheater detection modules (Cosmides & Tooby 1992), systems of moral grammar (Mikhail 2007), or dedicated norm acquisition mechanisms (Sripada & Stich 2006).

At the opposing end of the spectrum would lie lean, deflationary accounts claiming that norm acquisition does not build on any special cognitive machinery but just on the same general learning resources that are in play in any other domain. The starting state infants begin with would be characterized in very lean ways. Given the relevance of (statistical) regularities-which are related to, but not sufficient for, normativity-such accounts would focus on infants' initial abilities to track norms in the sense of behavioral regularities. Again, it is not clear whether there are any serious views at this very end of the spectrum that take such deflationary views on norm acquisition, but one section of a recent and influential account comes close (Heyes 2023). According to this account, initial learning about norms in infancy and early childhood is subserved by domain-general associative, statistical, and inductive learning mechanisms. Norm acquisition is, thus, merely another form of learning about social statistical patterns. This is the deflationary part. Real normative thought that goes beyond mere social statistics does emerge (this is the nondeflationary part) but only considerably later and is based on a complex theory of mind, language, and cultural learning. In between these two ends of the spectrum, there is plenty of space for various third-way accounts. According to such third-way views, early norm acquisition builds on cognitive foundations that are less modular and rich than those posited by extreme nativist accounts and less unspecific and lean than those posited by deflationary accounts. It is probably fair to say that most existing accounts are located roughly in this vicinity. Many of these accounts address questions of ontogenetic norm acquisition ("How do children become normative creatures?") against the background of evolutionary questions ("How did we become a normative species?"). This often involves a more or less implicit assumption that ontogeny may to some degree recapitulate phylogeny, that is, the stages through which children pass in becoming normative creatures may mirror the stages through which humans passed evolutionarily in becoming a normative species (Tomasello 2016).

Third-way positions come in many variants. According to views with a rationalistconstructivist background in the tradition of Piaget (1932), Kohlberg (1963, 1969), and Turiel (1983), norm acquisition builds upon general capacities for reasoning, social-cognitive capacities for perspective taking, and social experiences in interacting and discoursing with others (in particular, peers). Views with a more sentimentalist or emotivist background come with varying assumptions about the richness of the starting state, and norm acquisition builds on the coordination of reactive attitudes and broadly normative feelings such as resentment, indignation, or sympathy with growing flexibility in perspective taking. In this way, children developmentally move from egocentric prenormative notions of social preferences and expectations ("actions that make me/Dad frown") to more general genuinely normative expectations ("actions that make us/one/ideal observers frown") (Bloom 2013, Haidt 2012, Nichols 2004, Roughley 2016, Wynn & Bloom 2014).

Another class of accounts poses that norm acquisition reflects and builds on the development of different interlocking forms of individual and shared intentionality (Rakoczy & Schmidt 2013;

12.14 Schmidt • Rakoczy



Rakoczy & Tomasello 2007; Schmidt & Rakoczy 2019; Schmidt & Tomasello 2012; Tomasello 2014, 2016; Tomasello & Rakoczy 2003). The starting point for these accounts is the premise that normativity goes deep: Every form of intentionality (in the general sense of aboutness) already involves basic normative dimensions, that is, conditions of success or correctness (e.g., mental states can successfully represent reality, actions can be successfully carried out). Being an intentional agent thus already involves, at least implicitly, sensitivity to minimal normative standards (e.g., Burge 2009, Searle 2001). Normative awareness proper then develops based on the emergence of more complex forms of individual and shared intentionality. Within this process, the developing child actively coconstructs at first primitive, and then more complex, forms of normativity with others in social interactions.

From the end of the first of year of life, infants develop basic forms of second-order individual intentionality: In simple ways, they begin to understand that others and themselves are intentional beings with perceptual views on, and goals toward, the world. Based on this, from the second year of life, children develop the first forms of shared "we" intentionality, most clearly indicated by joint cooperative activities, both serious (e.g., problem-solving) and nonserious (e.g., pretend play and rule games). These social forms of higher-order and shared intentionality make the basic normativity that is inherent and implicit in simple individual intentionality (e.g., standards of correctness) more explicit and public, which introduces and facilitates the detection of deviations (e.g., mistakes) and the reciprocal assessment of each other's actions. Thus, understanding another agent's intentional action and trying to imitate it bring with them (potentially) shareable representations of criteria of success, and engaging in cooperative activities involves shared commitments to normative standards (fulfillment of one's role, striving toward the joint goal, etc.). Over development, shared intentionality becomes more complex in structure and wide-ranging in scope such that it is no longer restricted to dyadic, small-scale, concrete, and short-lived physical interactions but rather encompasses bigger groups, larger timescales, and more abstract matters (e.g., "In this society, we treat private property like this..."). As a consequence, the normative matters going along with shared intentional practices become more wide-ranging, abstract, context relative, and so on. Ultimately, this leads to practices in which institutional and societal norms are applicable in large contexts (spatially, temporally, personally)-in the case of moral norms of well-being, fairness, and the like, they are at least potentially applicable to the kingdom of ends encompassing all rational agents [Kant 1998 (1785)]

How do these theoretical accounts relate to each other and to the empirical evidence? There are certainly very lively debates between different accounts (for a recent example, see the target article by Heyes 2023 and the subsequent commentaries). However, compared with other areas of cognitive development, this field is, unfortunately, still in an early stage. Many accounts are sketched very abstractly, with many aspects left vague, creating large degrees of freedom in translating them into more concrete and empirically addressable predictions. Across accounts, the foci, terminology, and approaches are often highly incommensurable such that it is not obvious how competing predictions should be derived in order to test between them. Thus, desiderata for future research are the following. Theoretically, the accounts need to be spelled out in more detailed and precise ways and in categories more commensurable across different approaches so that productive debates between accounts are facilitated (for initiatives in this direction see, for example, Heyes 2023, Sripada & Stich 2006). Empirically, systematic research (including cross-cultural comparisons) needs to then test contrasting accounts carefully against each other. Ideally, this could and should be done in adversarial collaborations in which proponents of competing accounts together agree a priori about what would be a crucial test case, then preregister and finally test it (for recent examples in developmental and comparative cognitive science, see Boeckle et al. 2020, Schuwerk et al. 2023).

www.annualreviews.org • Children's Developing Understanding of Norms 12.15



OUTLOOK

Humans live not only in a natural world of causes and regularities but equally in a normative one filled with reasons and norms. Children grow into this normative habitat with remarkable ease and speed. The research from the last years reviewed here has impressively shown how early in development children learn about, acquire, understand, follow, construct, and enforce norms in such diverse domains as language use, fictional and rule games, cooperation, (over)imitation, property, or fairness. Empirically, we have learned a lot from a developmental perspective about the early trajectories of norm psychology. Relatedly, we have learned a lot from comparative perspectives about the uniquely human nature of many of these normative phenomena.

From a theoretical point of view, however, the evolutionary, (social-)cognitive, motivational, emotional, and other foundations of these normative capacities and their development are still not well understood. Future work will hopefully contribute to a deeper understanding of the foundations of our normative nature, its ontogeny, and its contribution to uniquely human forms of cooperation and culture.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Saba Amirheftehran, Laura Anderson, Leonie Baumann, Natalie Bleijlevens, Isa Garbisch, Feride Nur Haskaraca, Marlene Mayer, Marina Proft, Jana Rechenburg, and Lydia Schidelko for helpful comments on a previous version of the manuscript.

LITERATURE CITED

- Bayertz K, Roughley N, eds. 2019. The Normative Animal? On the Anthropological Significance of Social, Moral and Linguistic Norms. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Blake PR, McAuliffe K, Corbit J, Callaghan TC, Barry O, et al. 2015. The ontogeny of fairness in seven societies. *Nature* 528(7581):258-61
- Bloom P. 2013. Just Babies: The Origins of Good and Evil. New York: Crown Publ.
- Boeckle M, Schiestl M, Frohnwieser A, Gruber R, Miller R, et al. 2020. New Caledonian crows plan for specific future tool use. Proc. R. Soc. B 2871938:20201490
- Boesch C. 1994. Cooperative hunting in wild chimpanzees. Anim. Behav. 48(3):653-67
- Boesch C. 2012. Wild Cultures: A Comparison Between Chimpanzee and Human Cultures. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Boyd R, Richerson PJ. 2005. The Origin and Evolution of Cultures. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Brandom RB. 1994. Making It Explicit. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univ. Press
- Bräuer J, Call J, Tomasello M. 2009. Are apes inequity averse? New data on the token-exchange paradigm. Am. J. Primatol. 71(2):175–81

Bräuer J, Hanus D. 2012. Fairness in non-human primates? Soc. Justice Res. 25(3):256-76

Brosnan SF, de Waal FBM. 2003. Monkeys reject unequal pay. Nature 425(6955):297-99

Brosnan SF, de Waal FBM. 2014. Evolution of responses to (un)fairness. Science 346(6207):1251776

- Brosnan SF, Schiff HC, de Waal FBM. 2005. Tolerance for inequity may increase with social closeness in chimpanzees. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 272(1560):253–58
- Brosnan SF, Talbot C, Ahlgren M, Lambeth SP, Schapiro SJ. 2010. Mechanisms underlying responses to inequitable outcomes in chimpanzees, *Pan troglodytes. Anim. Behav.* 79(6):1229–37
- Buresh JS, Woodward AL. 2007. Infants track action goals within and across agents. *Cognition* 104(2):287–314 Burge T. 2009. Primitive agency and natural norms. *Philos. Phenomenol. Res.* 79(2):251–78

12.16 Schmidt • Rakoczy



- Burkart JM, Brügger RK, van Schaik CP. 2018. Evolutionary origins of morality: insights from non-human primates. *Front. Sociol.* 3:17
- Burns M, Sommerville J. 2014. "I pick you": the impact of fairness and race on infants' selection of social partners. *Front. Psychol.* 5:93
- Butler LP, Gibbs HM, Tavassolie NS. 2020. Children's developing understanding that even reliable sources need to verify their claims. Cogn. Dev. 54:100871
- Butler LP, Schmidt MFH, Tavassolie NS, Gibbs HM. 2018. Children's evaluation of verified and unverified claims. *J. Exp. Child Psychol.* 176:73–83
- Buyukozer Dawkins M, Sloane S, Baillargeon R. 2019. Do infants in the first year of life expect equal resource allocations? Front. Psychol. 10:116
- Campbell RL, Richie DM. 1983. Problems in the theory of developmental sequences: prerequisites and precursors. *Hum. Dev.* 26(3):156–72

Chomsky N. 2006. Language and Mind. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press. 3rd ed.

- Christen M, Glock H-J. 2012. The (limited) space for justice in social animals. Soc. Justice Res. 25(3):298-326
- Chudek M, Henrich J. 2011. Culture–gene coevolution, norm-psychology and the emergence of human prosociality. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 15(5):218–26
- Clay SEV, Ravaux L, de Waal FBM, Zuberbuhler K. 2016. Bonobos (Pan paniscus) vocally protest against violations of social expectations. *J. Comp. Psychol.* 130(1):44–54
- Cosmides L, Tooby J. 1992. Cognitive adaptations for social exchange. In *The Adapted Mind: Evolutionary Psychology and the Generation of Culture*, ed. JH Barkow, L Cosmides, J Tooby, pp. 163–228. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Dahl A, Schmidt MFH. 2018. Preschoolers, but not adults, treat instrumental norms as categorical imperatives. *J. Exp. Child Psychol.* 165:85–100
- Diesendruck G, Markson L. 2011. Children's assumption of the conventionality of culture. *Child Dev. Perspect.* 5(3):189–95
- Elsner B, Pauen S. 2007. Social learning of artefact function in 12- and 15-month-olds. *Eur. J. Dev. Psychol.* 4:80–99
- Engel P. 2011. Epistemic norms. In *The Routledge Companion to Epistemology*, ed. S Bernecker, D Pritchard, pp. 47–57. New York: Routledge
- Engelmann JM, Clift JB, Herrmann E, Tomasello M. 2017. Social disappointment explains chimpanzees' behaviour in the inequity aversion task. Proc. R. Soc. B 284(1861):20171502
- Engelmann JM, Herrmann E. 2016. Chimpanzees trust their friends. Curr. Biol. 26(2):252-56
- Fedra E, Schmidt MFH. 2018. Preschoolers understand the moral dimension of factual claims. *Front. Psychol.* 9:1841
- Fedra E, Schmidt MFH. 2019. Older (but not younger) preschoolers reject incorrect knowledge claims. Br. J. Dev. Psychol. 37(1):130–45
- Fehr E, Fischbacher U. 2004. Social norms and human cooperation. Trends Cogn. Sci. 8(4):185-90
- Fitzpatrick S. 2020. Chimpanzee normativity: evidence and objections. Biol. Philos. 35(4):45
- Flack JC, Girvan M, de Waal FBM, Krakauer DC. 2006. Policing stabilizes construction of social niches in primates. *Nature* 439(7075):426–29
- Flack JC, Krakauer DC, de Waal FBM. 2005. Robustness mechanisms in primate societies: a perturbation study. Proc. R. Soc. B 272(1568):1091–99
- Friedman O, Pesowski M, Goulding BW. 2018. Legal ownership is psychological: evidence from young children. In *Psychological Ownership and Consumer Behavior*, ed. J Peck, S Shu, pp. 19–31. New York: Springer
- Friedrich JP, Schmidt MFH. 2022. Preschoolers agree to and enforce prosocial, but not selfish, sharing norms. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 214:105303
- Fu G, Xiao WS, Killen M, Lee K. 2014. Moral judgment and its relation to second-order theory of mind. Dev. Psychol. 50(8):2085–92
- Geraci A, Surian L. 2011. The developmental roots of fairness: infants' reactions to equal and unequal distributions of resources. *Dev. Sci.* 14(5):1012–20
- Gibbard A. 1990. Wise Choices, Apt Feelings: A Theory of Normative Judgment. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univ. Press

www.annualreviews.org • Children's Developing Understanding of Norms 12.17



- Giffin C, Lombrozo T. 2015. Mental states are more important in evaluating moral than conventional violations. In *Proceedings of the 37th Annual Conference of the Cognitive Science Society*, ed. R Dale, C Jennings, P Maglio, T Matlock, D Noelle, et al., pp. 800–5. Austin, TX: Cogn. Sci. Soc.
- Gloor J. 2014. Collective intentionality and practical reason. In *Institutions, Emotions, and Group Agents: Contributions to Social Ontology*, ed. A Konzelmann, HB Schmid, pp. 297–312. Dordrecht, Neth.: Springer-Verlag
- Göckeritz S, Schmidt MFH, Tomasello M. 2014. Young children's creation and transmission of social norms. Cogn. Dev. 30:81–95
- Goodall J. 1977. Infant killing and cannibalism in free-living chimpanzees. Folia Primatol. Int. J. Primatol. 28(4):259–89
- Graham SA, Stock H, Henderson A. 2006. Nineteen-month-olds' understanding of the conventionality of object labels versus desires. *Infancy* 9(3):341–50
- Gruber T, Chimento M, Aplin LM, Biro D. 2022. Efficiency fosters cumulative culture across species. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 377(1843):20200308
- Haidt J. 2012. The Righteous Mind: Why Good People Are Divided by Politics and Religion. New York: Pantheon Books
- Hamlin JK. 2013a. Moral judgment and action in preverbal infants and toddlers: evidence for an innate moral core. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 22(3):186–93
- Hamlin JK. 2013b. Failed attempts to help and harm: intention versus outcome in preverbal infants' social evaluations. *Cognition* 128(3):451–74
- Hamlin JK, Mahajan N, Liberman Z, Wynn K. 2013. Not like me = bad: Infants prefer those who harm dissimilar others. *Psychol. Sci.* 24(4):589–94
- Hamlin JK, Wynn K. 2012. Who knows what's good to eat? Infants fail to match the food preferences of antisocial others. *Cogn. Dev.* 27(3):227–39
- Hamlin JK, Wynn K, Bloom P. 2007. Social evaluation by preverbal infants. Nature 450(7169):557-59
- Hamlin JK, Wynn K, Bloom P. 2010. 3-month-olds show a negativity bias in their social evaluations. *Dev. Sci.* 13(6):923–29
- Hamlin JK, Wynn K, Bloom P, Mahajan N. 2011. How infants and toddlers react to antisocial others. PNAS 108(50):19931–36
- Hardecker S, Schmidt MFH, Roden M, Tomasello M. 2016. Young children's behavioral and emotional responses to different social norm violations. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 150:364–79
- Harris PL, Koenig MA, Corriveau KH, Jaswal VK. 2018. Cognitive foundations of learning from testimony. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 69:251–73
- Henderson AME, Scott JC. 2015. She called that thing a mido, but should you call it a mido too? Linguistic experience influences infants' expectations of conventionality. *Front. Psychol.* 6:332
- Henderson AME, Woodward AL. 2012. Nine-month-old infants generalize object labels, but not object preferences across individuals. *Dev. Sci.* 15(5):641–52

Heyes C. 2023. Rethinking norm psychology. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. In press

- Jensen K, Call J, Tomasello M. 2007. Chimpanzees are vengeful but not spiteful. PNAS 104(32):13046-50
- Jensen K, Vaish A, Schmidt MFH. 2014. The emergence of human prosociality: aligning with others through feelings, concerns, and norms. *Front. Psychol.* 5:822

Jin K, Baillargeon R. 2017. Infants possess an abstract expectation of ingroup support. PNAS 114(31):8199–204

- Josephs M, Kushnir T, Gräfenhain M, Rakoczy H. 2016. Children protest moral and conventional violations more when they believe actions are freely chosen. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 141:247–55
- Josephs M, Rakoczy H. 2016. Young children think you can opt out of social-conventional but not moral practices. Cogn. Dev. 39:197–204
- Kagan J. 1981. The Second Year: The Emergence of Self-Awareness. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univ. Press
- Kant I. 1998 (1785). Groundwork of the Metaphysics of Morals. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Kelemen D. 1999a. The scope of teleological thinking in preschool children. Cognition 70(3):241–72
- Kelemen D. 1999b. Function, goals and intention: children's teleological reasoning about objects. Trends Cogn. Sci. 3(12):461–68
- Kendal R, Hopper LM, Whiten A, Brosnan SF, Lambeth SP, et al. 2015. Chimpanzees copy dominant and knowledgeable individuals: implications for cultural diversity. *Evol. Hum. Behav.* 36(1):65–72

12.18 Schmidt • Rakoczy



- Keupp S, Behne T, Rakoczy H. 2018. The rationality of (over)imitation. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 13(6):678–87 Killen M, Dahl A. 2021. Moral reasoning enables developmental and societal change. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 16(6):1209–25
- Killen M, Mulvey KL, Richardson C, Jampol N, Woodward A. 2011. The accidental transgressor: morallyrelevant theory of mind. *Cognition* 119(2):197–215
- Killen M, Rizzo MT. 2014. Morality, intentionality, and intergroup attitudes. Behaviour 151(2-3):337-59
- Killen M, Smetana JG, eds. 2014. Handbook of Moral Development. New York: Psychol. Press. 2nd ed.
- Killen M, Smetana JG. 2015. Origins and development of morality. In *Handbook of Child Psychology and Developmental Science*, Vol. 3, ed. RM Lerner, pp. 701–49. New York: Wiley-Blackwell. 7th ed.
- Knobe J. 2003. Intentional action and side effects in ordinary language. Analysis 63(279):190-94
- Knobe J. 2010. Person as scientist, person as moralist. Behav. Brain Sci. 33(4):315-29
- Koenig MA, Clement F, Harris PL. 2004. Trust in testimony: children's use of true and false statements. Psychol. Sci. 15(10):694–98
- Koenig MA, Harris PL. 2005. Preschoolers mistrust ignorant and inaccurate speakers. *Child Dev*. 76(6):1261– 77
- Kohlberg L. 1963. The development of children's orientations toward a moral order. Hum. Dev. 6(1-2):11-33
- Kohlberg L. 1969. Stage and sequence: the cognitive-developmental approach to socialization. In Handbook of Socialization Theory and Research, ed. DA Goslin, pp. 347–480. Chicago: McNally
- Korsgaard CM. 1996. The Sources of Normativity. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Köymen B, Lieven E, Engemann DA, Rakoczy H, Warneken F, Tomasello M. 2014. Children's norm enforcement in their interactions with peers. *Child Dev.* 85(3):1108–22
- Köymen B, Schmidt MFH, Rost L, Lieven E, Tomasello M. 2015. Teaching versus enforcing game rules in preschoolers' peer interactions. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 135:93–101
- Landrum AR, Eaves BS, Shafto P. 2015. Learning to trust and trusting to learn: a theoretical framework. *Trends* Cogn. Sci. 19(3):109–11
- Langergraber KE, Boesch C, Inoue E, Inoue-Murayama M, Mitani JC, et al. 2011. Genetic and 'cultural' similarity in wild chimpanzees. Proc. R. Soc. B 278(1704):408–16
- Lavin D. 2004. Practical reason and the possibility of error. Ethics 114(3):424-57
- Legare CH, Nielsen M. 2015. Imitation and innovation: the dual engines of cultural learning. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 19(11):688–99
- Leslie AM, Knobe J, Cohen A. 2006. Acting intentionally and the side-effect effect: theory of mind and moral judgment. Psychol. Sci. 17(5):421–27
- Li L, Rizzo MT, Burkholder AR, Killen M. 2017. Theory of mind and resource allocation in the context of hidden inequality. Cogn. Dev. 43:25–36
- Liberman Z, Howard LH, Vasquez NM, Woodward AL. 2018. Children's expectations about conventional and moral behaviors of ingroup and outgroup members. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 165:7–18
- Lohse K, Gräfenhain M, Behne T, Rakoczy H. 2014. Young children understand the normative implications of future-directed speech acts. *PLOS ONE* 9(1):e86958
- Lorini G. 2022. Animal norms: an investigation of normativity in the non-human social world. *Law Cult. Humanit.* 18(3):652–73
- Lucca K, Capelier-Mourguy A, Cirelli L, Byers-Heinlein K, Ben RD, et al. 2021. Infants' social evaluation of helpers and hinderers: a large-scale, multi-lab, coordinated replication study. PsyArXiv. https://doi.org/ 10.31234/osf.io/qhxkm
- Lucca K, Pospisil J, Sommerville JA. 2018. Fairness informs social decision making in infancy. PLOS ONE 13(2):e0192848
- Luncz LV, Boesch C. 2014. Tradition over trend: neighboring chimpanzee communities maintain differences in cultural behavior despite frequent immigration of adult females. Am. J. Primatol. 76(7):649–57
- Luncz LV, Mundry R, Boesch C. 2012. Evidence for cultural differences between neighboring chimpanzee communities. Curr. Biol. 22(10):922–26
- Margoni F, Surian L. 2018. Infants' evaluation of prosocial and antisocial agents: a meta-analysis. Dev. Psychol. 54:1445–55
- McDowell J. 1984. Wittgenstein on following a rule. Synthese 58(3):325-63

www.annualreviews.org • Children's Developing Understanding of Norms 12.19



Meristo M, Strid K, Surian L. 2016. Preverbal infants' ability to encode the outcome of distributive actions. Infancy 21(3):353–72

Mikhail J. 2007. Universal moral grammar: theory, evidence and the future. Trends Cogn. Sci. 11(4):143-52

- Millikan RG. 1990. Truth, rules, hoverflies, and the Kripke-Wittgenstein paradox. Philos. Rev. 99(3):323-53
- Mills CM. 2013. Knowing when to doubt: developing a critical stance when learning from others. *Dev. Psychol.* 49(3):404–18
- Nagel T. 1970. The Possibility of Altruism. Oxford, UK: Clarendon Press
- Nagel T. 1986. The View from Nowhere. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Neary KR, Friedman O, Burnstein CL. 2009. Preschoolers infer ownership from "control of permission." Dev Psychol. 45(3):873–76
- Nichols S. 2004. Sentimental Rules: On the Natural Foundations of Moral Judgment. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Nobes G. 1999. Children's understanding of rules they invent themselves. J. Moral Educ. 28(2):215-32
- Nucci LP. 2014. The personal and the moral. See Killen & Smetana 2014, pp. 538-58
- Nurmsoo E, Robinson EJ, Butterfill SA. 2010. Children's selective learning from others. *Rev. Philos. Psychol.* 1(4):511–61
- Parsons T. 1951. The Social System. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul
- Paulus M, Christner N, Wörle M. 2020. The normative status of friendship: Do young children enforce sharing with friends and appreciate reasonable partiality? J. Exp. Child Psychol. 194:104826
- Pea RD. 1982. Origins of verbal logic: spontaneous denials by two- and three-year olds. J. Child Lang. 9(3):597– 626
- Pellizzoni S, Siegal M, Surian L. 2009. Foreknowledge, caring, and the side-effect effect in young children. Dev. Psychol. 45(1):289–95

Pettit P. 1993. The Common Mind: An Essay on Psychology, Society, and Politics. New York: Oxford Univ. Press

- Piaget J. 1932. The Moral Judgment of the Child. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul
- Pinker S. 1994. The Language Instinct: How the Mind Creates Language. New York: William Morrow
- Popitz H. 2006. Soziale Normen. Frankfurt am Main, Ger.: Suhrkamp
- Rakoczy H, Behne T, Clüver A, Dallmann S, Weidner S, Waldmann MR. 2015. The side-effect effect in children is robust and not specific to the moral status of action effects. PLOS ONE 10(7):e0132933
- Rakoczy H, Brosche N, Warneken F, Tomasello M. 2009. Young children's understanding of the context relativity of normative rules in conventional games. Br. J. Dev. Psychol. 27:445–56
- Rakoczy H, Kaufmann M, Lohse K. 2016. Young children understand the normative force of standards of equal resource distribution. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 150:396–403
- Rakoczy H, Schmidt MFH. 2013. The early ontogeny of social norms. Child Dev. Perspect. 7(1):17-21
- Rakoczy H, Tomasello M. 2007. The ontogeny of social ontology: steps to shared intentionality and status functions. In *Intentional Acts and Institutional Facts: Essays on John Searle's Social Ontology*, ed. SL Tsohatzidis, pp. 113–37. Berlin: Springer-Verlag
- Rakoczy H, Tomasello M. 2009. Done wrong or said wrong? Young children understand the normative directions of fit of different speech acts. *Cognition* 113(2):205–12
- Rakoczy H, Warneken F, Tomasello M. 2008. The sources of normativity: young children's awareness of the normative structure of games. Dev. Psychol. 44(3):875–81
- Riedl K, Jensen K, Call J, Tomasello M. 2012. No third-party punishment in chimpanzees. PNAS 109(37):14824–29
- Rizzo MT, Elenbaas L, Cooley S, Killen M. 2016. Children's recognition of fairness and others' welfare in a resource allocation task: age related changes. *Dev. Psychol.* 52(8):1307–17
- Roberts SO. 2021. Descriptive-to-prescriptive (D2P) reasoning: an early emerging bias to maintain the status quo. *Eur. Rev. Soc. Psychol.* 33(2):289–322
- Roberts SO, Gelman SA, Ho AK. 2017. So it is, so it shall be: Group regularities license children's prescriptive judgments. *Cogn. Sci.* 41(S3):576–600
- Robinson EJ, Einav S, eds. 2014. Trust and Skepticism: Children's Selective Learning from Testimony. New York: Psychol. Press
- Ross H, Friedman O, Field A. 2015. Toddlers assert and acknowledge ownership rights. Soc. Dev. 24(2):341-56

12.20 Schmidt • Rakoczy



- Rossano F, Rakoczy H, Tomasello M. 2011. Young children's understanding of violations of property rights. Cognition 121(2):219–27
- Roughley N. 2016. Moral obligation from the outside in. See Bayertz & Roughley 2016, pp. 214-44
- Rousseau J-J. 1997 (1762). The Social Contract and Other Later Political Writings. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Rudolf von Rohr C, Burkart JM, van Schaik CP. 2011. Evolutionary precursors of social norms in chimpanzees: a new approach. *Biol. Philos.* 26(1):1–30
- Rudolf von Rohr C, Koski SE, Burkart JM, Caws C, Fraser ON, et al. 2012. Impartial third-party interventions in captive chimpanzees: a reflection of community concern. *PLOS ONE* 7(3):e32494
- Salvadori E, Blazsekova T, Volein A, Karap Z, Tatone D, et al. 2015. Probing the strength of infants' preference for helpers over hinderers: two replication attempts of Hamlin and Wynn 2011. *PLOS ONE* 10(11):e0140570
- Scarf D, Imuta K, Colombo M, Hayne H. 2012. Social evaluation or simple association? Simple associations may explain moral reasoning in infants. PLOS ONE 7(8):e42698
- Schlingloff L, Csibra G, Tatone D. 2020. Do 15-month-old infants prefer helpers? A replication of Hamlin et al. 2007. *R. Soc. Open Sci.* 7(4):191795
- Schmid HB, ed. 2009. Plural Action. Essays in Philosophy and Social Science. Dordrecht, Neth.: Springer
- Schmid HB. 2011. The idiocy of strategic reasoning. Towards an account of consensual action. Anal. Krit. 33(1):35–56
- Schmidt MFH, Butler LP, Heinz J, Tomasello M. 2016a. Young children see a single action and infer a social norm: promiscuous normativity in 3-year-olds. *Psychol. Sci.* 27(10):1360–70
- Schmidt MFH, Hardecker S, Tomasello M. 2016b. Preschoolers understand the normativity of cooperatively structured competition. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 143:34–47
- Schmidt MFH, Rakoczy H. 2018. Developing an understanding of normativity. In Oxford Handbook of Cognition: Embodied, Embedded, Enactive and Extended, ed. A Newen, L de Bruin, S Gallagher, pp. 685–706. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Schmidt MFH, Rakoczy H. 2019. On the uniqueness of human normative attitudes. See Bayertz & Roughley 2016, pp. 121–35
- Schmidt MFH, Rakoczy H, Mietzsch T, Tomasello M. 2016c. Young children understand the role of agreement in establishing arbitrary norms—but unanimity is key. *Child Dev.* 87(2):612–26
- Schmidt MFH, Rakoczy H, Tomasello M. 2011. Young children attribute normativity to novel actions without pedagogy or normative language. Dev. Sci. 14(3):530–39
- Schmidt MFH, Rakoczy H, Tomasello M. 2012. Young children enforce social norms selectively depending on the violator's group affiliation. *Cognition* 124(3):325–33
- Schmidt MFH, Rakoczy H, Tomasello M. 2013. Young children understand and defend the entitlements of others. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 116(4):930–44
- Schmidt MFH, Rakoczy H, Tomasello M. 2019. Eighteen-month-old infants correct non-conforming actions by others. *Infancy* 24(4):613–35
- Schmidt MFH, Sommerville JA. 2011. Fairness expectations and altruistic sharing in 15-month-old human infants. *PLOS ONE* 6(10):e23223
- Schmidt MFH, Svetlova M, Johe J, Tomasello M. 2016d. Children's developing understanding of legitimate reasons for allocating resources unequally. Cogn. Dev. 37:42–52
- Schmidt MFH, Tomasello M. 2012. Young children enforce social norms. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 21(4):232-36
- Schmidt MFH, Tomasello M. 2016. How chimpanzees cooperate: if dominance is artificially constrained. *PNAS* 113(44):E6728–29
- Schuwerk T, Kampis D, Baillargeon R, Biro S, Bohn M, et al. 2023. Action anticipation based on an agent's epistemic state in toddlers and adults. PsyArXiv. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/x4jbm
- Searle JR. 1969. Speech Acts: An Essay in the Philosophy of Language. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Searle JR. 1983. Intentionality: An Essay in the Philosophy of Mind. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Searle JR. 2001. Rationality in Action. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Sellars W. 1962. Truth and correspondence. J. Philos. 59(2):29-56
- Shweder RA. 1986. Divergent rationalities. In *Metatheory in Social Science: Pluralisms and Subjectivities*, ed. DW Fiske, RA Shweder, pp. 163–96. Chicago: Univ. Chicago Press

www.annualreviews.org • Children's Developing Understanding of Norms 12.21



Sloane S, Baillargeon R, Premack D. 2012. Do infants have a sense of fairness? *Psychol. Sci.* 23(2):196–204

- Smetana JG. 2006. Social–cognitive domain theory: consistencies and variations in children's moral and social judgments. See Killen & Smetana 2014, pp. 119–54
- Smetana JG, Jambon M, Conry-Murray C, Sturge-Apple ML. 2012. Reciprocal associations between young children's developing moral judgments and theory of mind. *Dev. Psychol.* 48(4):1144–55
- Smith M. 1994. The Moral Problem. Oxford, UK: Blackwell
- Sodian B, Licata M, Kristen-Antonow S, Paulus M, Killen M, Woodward A. 2016. Understanding of goals, beliefs, and desires predicts morally relevant theory of mind: a longitudinal investigation. *Child Dev*. 87(4):1221–32
- Sommerville JA, Schmidt MFH, Yun J, Burns M. 2013. The development of fairness expectations and prosocial behavior in the second year of life. *Infancy* 18(1):40–66
- Sripada CS, Stich S. 2006. A framework for the psychology of norms. In *The Innate Mind*, Vol. 2: *Culture and Cognition*, ed. P Carruthers, S Laurence, SP Stich, pp. 280–301. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Suchak M, de Waal FBM. 2016. Reply to Schmidt and Tomasello: chimpanzees as natural team-players. PNAS 113(44):E6730
- Suchak M, Eppley TM, Campbell MW, Feldman RA, Quarles LF, de Waal FBM. 2016. How chimpanzees cooperate in a competitive world. PNAS 113(36):10215–20
- Tan E, Mikami AY, Hamlin JK. 2018. Do infant sociomoral evaluation and action studies predict preschool social and behavioral adjustment? J. Exp. Child Psychol. 176:39–54
- Tennie C, Call J, Tomasello M. 2009. Ratcheting up the ratchet: on the evolution of cumulative culture. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 364(1528):2405–15
- Tomasello M. 2014. A Natural History of Human Thinking. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univ. Press
- Tomasello M. 2016. A Natural History of Human Morality. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univ. Press
- Tomasello M. 2020. The ontogenetic foundations of epistemic norms. Episteme 17(3):301-15
- Tomasello M, Rakoczy H. 2003. What makes human cognition unique? From individual to shared to collective intentionality. *Mind Lang.* 18(2):121–47
- Townsend SW, Slocombe KE, Emery Thompson M, Zuberbühler K. 2007. Female-led infanticide in wild chimpanzees. *Curr: Biol.* 17(10):R355–56
- Träuble B, Pauen S. 2007. The role of functional information for infant categorization. *Cognition* 105(2):362–79
- Träuble B, Pauen S. 2011. Cause or effect: what matters? How 12-month-old infants learn to categorize artifacts. Br: J. Dev. Psychol. 29(Pt 3):357–74
- Tunçgenç B, Hohenberger A, Rakoczy H. 2015. Early understanding of normativity and freedom to act in Turkish toddlers. J. Cogn. Dev. 16(1):44–54
- Turiel E. 1983. The Development of Social Knowledge: Morality and Convention. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Turiel E. 2002. The Culture of Morality: Social Development, Context, and Conflict. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Turiel E. 2006. The development of morality. In *Handbook of Child Psychology*, Vol. 3: Social, Emotional, and PersonalityDevelopment, ed. W Damon, RM Lerner, N Eisenberg, pp. 789–857. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley. 6th ed.
- Turiel E, Dahl A. 2016. The development of domains of moral and conventional norms, coordination in decision-making, and the implications of social opposition. See Bayertz & Roughley 2016, pp. 195–213
- Ulber J, Hamann K, Tomasello M. 2017. Young children, but not chimpanzees, are averse to disadvantageous and advantageous inequities. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 155:48–66
- Vaish A, Carpenter M, Tomasello M. 2010. Young children selectively avoid helping people with harmful intentions. Child Dev. 81(6):1661–69
- Vaish A, Missana M, Tomasello M. 2011. Three-year-old children intervene in third-party moral transgressions. Br: J. Dev. Psychol. 29(1):124–30
- Van de Vondervoort JW, Aknin LB, Kushnir T, Slevinsky J, Hamlin JK. 2018. Selectivity in toddlers' behavioral and emotional reactions to prosocial and antisocial others. *Dev. Psychol.* 54(1):1–14
- Van de Vondervoort JW, Hamlin JK. 2018. The early emergence of sociomoral evaluation: infants prefer prosocial others. Curr. Opin. Psychol. 20:77–81

12.22 Schmidt • Rakoczy



- Van Leeuwen EJC, Cronin KA, Schütte S, Call J, Haun DBM. 2013. Chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*) flexibly adjust their behaviour in order to maximize payoffs, not to conform to majorities. *PLOS ONE* 8(11):e80945
- Van Wye EM, Wang M, Roberts SO. 2021. Explanations for norm violations affect preschoolers' judgments of norm violators. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 150:1688–94
- von Rohr CR, van Schaik CP, Kissling A, Burkart JM. 2015. Chimpanzees' bystander reactions to infanticide. *Hum. Nat.* 26(2):143–60
- Westra E, Andrews K. 2022. A pluralistic framework for the psychology of norms. Biol. Philos. 37(5):40
- Whiten A. 2011. The scope of culture in chimpanzees, humans and ancestral apes. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 366(1567):997–1007
- Whiten A. 2019. Social learning: peering deeper into ape culture. Curr. Biol. 29(17):R845-47
- Whiten A. 2021. The burgeoning reach of animal culture. Science 372(6537):eabe6514
- Whiten A, Spiteri A, Horner V, Bonnie KE, Lambeth SP, et al. 2007. Transmission of multiple traditions within and between chimpanzee groups. *Curr. Biol.* 17(12):1038–43
- Winch P. 1958. The Idea of a Social Science and Its Relation to Philosophy. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul
- Wittgenstein L. 2001 (1953). Philosophical Investigations: The German Text, with a Revised English Translation. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publ. 3rd ed.
- Woo BM, Tan E, Hamlin JK. 2022. Human morality is based on an early-emerging moral core. Annu. Rev. Dev. Psychol. 4:41–61
- Wrangham RW, Koops K, Machanda ZP, Worthington S, Bernard AB, et al. 2016. Distribution of a chimpanzee social custom is explained by matrilineal relationship rather than conformity. *Curr. Biol.* 26(22):3033–37
- Wyman E, Rakoczy H, Tomasello M. 2009. Normativity and context in young children's pretend play. Cogn. Dev. 24(2):146–55
- Wynn K, Bloom P. 2014. The moral baby. See Killen & Smetana 2014, pp. 435-53
- Yucel M, Hepach R, Vaish A. 2020. Young children and adults show differential arousal to moral and conventional transgressions. *Front. Psychol.* 11:548
- Ziv T, Whiteman JD, Sommerville JA. 2021. Toddlers' interventions toward fair and unfair individuals. Cognition 214:104781

